IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

:

::

FLOYD MOR	RGAN,
	Appellant
۷.	
STATE OF	FLORIDA,
	Appellee.

OCT 10 1936 CLERK, SUPREME COURT By Deputy Clerk CASE NO. 69,104

City J. Vehite

On Appeal From The Eighth Judicial Circuit, In And For Union County, Florida

INITIAL BRIEF OF DEFENDANT/APPELLANT FLOYD MORGAN

Robert L. Weinberg, Esquire Dianne J. Smith, Esquire

WILLIAMS & CONNOLLY 839 - 17th Street, N.W. Washington, D.C. 20006 (202) 331-5000 Larry Helm Spalding, Esquire

CAPITAL COLLATERAL REPRESENTATIVE 225 W. Jefferson Tallahassee, Florida 32301 (904) 487-4376

Attorneys for Appellant Floyd Morgan

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Following trial by jury, appellant Floyd Morgan ("Morgan") was convicted of first-degree murder on June 14, 1978. The next day, June 15, 1978, during the penalty phase of the trial, the same jury that tried and convicted Morgan heard evidence of aggravating and mitigating circumstances. 1/ It then rendered an advisory recommendation as to the sentence Morgan should receive. The jury voted 7 to 5 in favor of imposing the death penalty upon Morgan. 2/ On July 17, 1978, the Circuit Court for the Eighth Judicial Circuit in and for Union County sentenced Morgan to death by electrocution. The judgment and sentence were affirmed by this Court. <u>Morgan</u> v. <u>State</u>, 415 So. 2d 6 (Fla.), cert. denied, 459 U.S. 1055 (1982).

On January 24, 1983, Morgan sought post-conviction relief under Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850 from the sentence of death imposed upon him in 1978. The Circuit Court denied the motion without a hearing on March 16, 1983. On September 5, 1985, this Court set aside the denial and remanded the case for an evidentiary hearing on the motion. Morgan v. State, 475 So. 2d 681 (1985).

^{1/} At least eight of these jurors were either employed in the state prison system or had close relatives who were employed there. Trial Transcript ("Trial Tr.") at 6-164. Record references herein to the transcript of the trial will be cited as "Trial Tr.". References to the transcript of the evidentiary hearing on the Rule 3.850 motion, held on December 30, 1985, entitled Transcript of Testimony Proceedings, will be cited as "Tr.". Exhibits will be cited as "Ex."

<u>2</u>/ A vote of 6 to 6 is considered a vote against imposition of the death penalty. <u>See Tr. 33; Rose v. State</u>, 425 So. 2d 521, 525 (Fla. 1982), <u>cert. denied</u>, 465 U.S. 1051 (1984); <u>Harich v. State</u>, 437 So. 2d 1082, 1086 (Fla. 1983); <u>Jackson</u> v. <u>State</u>, 438 So. 2d 4, 6 (Fla. 1983).

The Circuit Court held the hearing mandated by this Court on December 30, 1985. At the hearing, the Court received the testimony of nine witnesses for the defendant; four of these, including two expert witnesses, testified live, and five testified by stipulation. (The stipulated testimony was included in the record as Exhibits 1 through 5.) No witnesses were called by the State to dispute or rebut the testimony offered by the defendant. The testimony on behalf of defendant, cited below, thus stands uncontradicted in the record.

The Circuit Court denied Morgan's motion for post-conviction relief on June 9, 1986, signing the proposed order submitted by the prosecution, and denied Morgan's motion for rehearing on June 25, 1986. Morgan now appeals the Circuit Court's Orders of June 9 and 25, 1986.

This appeal is concerned primarily with the alleged omissions of Morgan's trial counsel at the penalty phase of the trial. However, one of these alleged omissions, concerning failure to investigate and present evidence of Morgan's psychiatric problems arising from his military service in Vietnam, also goes to the question of Morgan's guilt or innocence of first degree murder, as determined at the guilt phase of the trial. See pp. 27-29, infra.

II. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

William Salmon was Morgan's attorney at both the guilt and penalty phase of his trial. Salmon did not present any live testimony during the penalty phase of the trial. Instead, he read fifteen documents to the jury, including a four-sentence letter of commendation from Governor Askew regarding Morgan's actions during a prison riot, a five-sentence letter from Morgan's mother, stating only

- 2 -

that he had suffered several head injuries, and various prison documents pertaining to vocational training, gain time, good behavior, educational achievement, and psychological evaluations. Salmon did not make these documents part of the record. $\frac{3}{}$ <u>See</u> Trial Tr. at 566-76. He did not present any evidence at the penalty phase from Morgan's family members other than the letter from his mother; any evidence from two prison staff members whose lives Morgan had saved during a prison riot; any evidence that Morgan served in the military in Vietnam or suffered from mental problems originating in that service; or any evidence tending to establish that Morgan suffered from some type of organic brain disorder.

A. Evidence That Could Have Been Produced From Family Members

Salmon did not contact any members of Morgan's family to request that they testify at the penalty phase of Morgan's trial or to determine how they might testify if called. Tr. 23-24. Although Morgan indicated to Salmon that he did not wish to have his family involved, Salmon did not specifically explain to Morgan the various factual and legal purposes to which family testimony could be put, did not advise Morgan that in his professional judgment family members should be called to testify at the penalty phase, and did not attempt to persuade Morgan to let him call family members as penalty-phase witnesses. Tr. 25-26. Salmon had the means to contact family members had he wished, but did not do so. Tr. 26-27.

^{3/} The jury was therefore not given these documents and had to rely on their own memories of their content when considering what sentence to recommend.

At the December 30, 1985 evidentiary hearing, Morgan's four sisters and brothers testified, through stipulated testimony, that they would have gone to Morgan's trial to testify if they had been asked to do so, but that no one in the family was notified of the trial until after Morgan was sentenced. See Exs. 1-4. Alice Diven, Morgan's younger sister, and Robert P. Morgan, his younger brother, would have described to the jury details of Morgan's family life, including the facts that Morgan's stepfather was an alcoholic and abusive to his stepchildren; that he often beat Morgan; that the Morgan children all left home because of their stepfather; and that Morgan was a good brother to Diven, took care of her, and tried to protect her from their stepfather. Ex. 1, ¶¶ 2-4; Ex. 4, ¶¶ 2-4. Diven and Carol Ann Morgan, Morgan's older sister, would have testified that Morgan suffered a head injury in July 1969 and complained of headaches that fall. Ex. 1, ¶ 5; Ex. 2, ¶ 1.

All of Morgan's siblings, if called at the penalty phase of the trial, would have testified that Morgan changed "a lot" in Vietnam and came back a different person. Ex. 1, \P 5; Ex. 2, $\P\P$ 2, 5; Ex. 3, $\P\P$ 3-4, Ex. 4, $\P\P$ 5, 6. Diven would have stated that Morgan "didn't care what was going to happen" and cared less about himself and others after coming back from Vietnam; that he left home to get a job after his return; that the killing in this case was out of character for the Morgan that she knew; that he must have "flipped out" if he did it; and that before Vietnam he was not aggressive and "was not one to start a fight." Ex. 1, $\P\P$ 5-7.

Carol Ann Morgan would have confirmed this testimony by stating that before he went to Vietnam Morgan "was a shy, quiet kid, who would do anything for anybody"; that when he came back from

- 4 -

Vietnam, he was "very much changed" and sometimes "acted aggressive, loud and domineering" and "like he had a split personality"; that at other times he was fine; and that the "person who committed the murder in this case . . . is not the brother [she] knew before he left home to go to Vietnam." Ex. 2, ¶¶ 2, 5.

James Lee Morgan would have testified that, in his opinion, Morgan's troubles with the law came from the change he experienced in Vietnam. Id., ¶ 2. He would have testified that before Vietnam Morgan was always quiet; that after his return, his attitude was different, he would argue, was afraid of nobody, would not back down to avoid a fight as he had prior to Vietnam, and felt like he was living on "borrowed time"; and that he had never had a fight with Morgan before Vietnam, but that he did have fights with him after he returned. Id., ¶¶ 3-4. He would also have testified to Morgan's frightening, physically dangerous, and emotionally stressful wartime experiences. Id., ¶ 4.

Robert P. Morgan would also have told the jury that Morgan was "different" when he came back from Vietnam, would do "crazy" things to "show off" and impress people, and did not talk to him about his experience in Vietnam; that "[k]illing someone is completely different from the [Morgan he] knew"; that Morgan never acted like that before Vietnam; and that he would run from a fight before his military service. Id., ¶¶ 5, 6.

All four family members would have asked the jury to spare their brother's life. Ex. 1, \P 9; Ex. 2, \P 6; Ex. 3, \P 5; Ex. 4, \P 7.

Salmon testified at the hearing on December 30, 1985, that he would have introduced the majority of the statements of Morgan's four sisters and brothers if he had obtained the information contained in

- 5 -

those statements in the course of his preparation for trial. Tr. at 24-25. He also testified that the information would have assisted his argument in mitigation, that it was a mistake for him not to contact members of Morgan's family to determine what mitigating testimony they might have been able to give, and that if he had had more experience at the time, he would have done things differently. Tr. 25, 27, 60.

B. Evidence That Could Have Been Produced From Two Prison Staff Members

Salmon also did not present evidence as to Morgan's actions in saving the lives of two prison staff members, Dale Harden and John G. Sapp, during the "Garment Factory" riot at the Florida State Prison on April 30, 1973. He made one attempt to reach Harden, but did not contact either Harden or Sapp to request that they testify during the penalty phase of Morgan's trial, even though both were still employed in the prison system at the time of trial. Tr. 24.

Dale Harden is currently employed at the Union Correctional Institution in Florida, has been employed in the Florida prison system for 16 years, and has lived in Union County all his life, about 40 years. Tr. 7-8. Had he been called to testify at the penalty phase of Morgan's trial, he would have testified that Morgan was an "exceptionally good" and loyal inmate of good repute and character, who worked hard and did not give Harden any trouble. Tr. 8, 11. He would also have testified that John Sapp would not be alive today if Morgan had not gone to his aid during the Garment Factory riot and that Harden himself and several others probably would not be either. Tr. 9. Harden would also have asked the jury, just about all of whom

- 6 -

he knew personally, to spare Morgan's life because of what he had done to save the lives of Harden and others. Tr. 9-10.

John Sapp, if called at the penalty phase of the trial, would have testified that he had been with the Florida Department of Corrections since 1957, that he worked at the Union Correctional Institution, and that he is married, with a child. Ex. 5. He would also have testified that he was present in April 1973 at the Garment Factory riot; that he was stabbed with a screwdriver in the back, as a result of which he is paralyzed in his left leg and suffers numbness in his right leg; that Morgan sprayed a fire extinguisher on the ten or more inmates surrounding Sapp; and that Morgan's actions helped save Sapp's life. Sapp would have further testified that prison inmates do not look favorably on other inmates siding with prison personnel or supervisors; that Morgan's actions were therefore taken not only at great risk to his personal safety at the time, but also at risk to his continued safety in the prison; and that Morgan never gave Sapp any problems before this incident, behaving in a manner acceptable to Sapp and others. Id.

Salmon testified at the evidentiary hearing that he had wanted to call Harden and Sapp at the penalty phase, in addition to reading the Governor's commendation letter at that phase. Tr. 70. It is his opinion that live testimony from these two guards would have been favorable and more persuasive than the four-sentence letter from the Governor he read into the record. Tr. 27, 63. Salmon also testified that he believes that the jury, which had close ties to persons working in Florida's prison system, would have reacted favorably to testimony from Correctional Department employees that Morgan's actions had helped save their lives. Id. Salmon did not

- 7 -

make a tactical judgment that it was unwise to call Harden or Sapp. <u>Id</u>. He wanted to call them, made one attempt to do so, but failed to contact them. <u>Id</u>. Salmon was not worried that cross-examination of Harden and Sapp would be adverse. Tr. 71.

C. Evidence That Could Have Been Produced Of Mental Problems Arising From Morgan's Military Service In Vietnam

Salmon did not consider pursuing evidence in mitigation or defense that Morgan suffered from the syndrome known as post-traumatic stress disorder ("PTSD") because of his experiences in Vietnam or that he suffered from any type of organic brain disorder. Tr. 30. Other than talking to Morgan, Salmon did not investigate Morgan's military or family history, nor did he review Morgan's history with respect to his mental condition. Tr. 20. Salmon first looked at the prison record either just prior to the beginning of or during the trial. <u>Id</u>.

Dr. Joyce Lynn Carbonell, an associate professor of psychology at Florida State University and an expert in clinical psychology and PTSD, who has worked extensively with Vietnam veterans, was qualified and testified as an expert in her field. Tr. 74-78. She testified at the hearing that publications discussing combat or post-stress problems in Vietnam-era veterans appeared in psychiatric journals as early as 1972. Testimony Tr. at 74-78. As of June 1978, a considerable amount of information was available about the effects of combat on persons participating in it.^{4/} The syndrome was not yet

^{4/} In 1973, the Russell Sage Foundation, National Institute of Mental Health, and National Council of Churches began to investigate the problems that Vietnam veterans were having. Tr. 79. In 1975, a whole issue of one journal was devoted to discussion of the mental health problems of Vietnam veterans. Tr. 78. In February 1978, the (Footnote continued)

known as PTSD, but was beginning to be referred to as combat shock and, especially, delayed stress disorder. 5/ Tr. 78. As of 1978, Dr. Carbonell testified, there was enough information about what was then called delayed stress syndrome and combat shock to diagnose that personality and behavior were disrupted as a result of having been in combat. Tr. 79. On the basis of Morgan's prison records alone, on the testimony that could have been given by family members alone, or on Morgan's military records alone, Dr. Carbonell testified, an expert in clinical psychology as of the first half of 1978 would have concluded that there should be further investigation to determine whether the homicide allegedly committed by Floyd Morgan had been caused by the syndrome now called PTSD. Tr. 81-86.

Salmon first spoke to a psychologist, Dr. McMahon, and a psychiatrist, Dr. Barnard, concerning evidence for the penalty phase of Morgan's trial in early June 1978. Tr. 18-19. Although they had access to Morgan's prison file, Salmon did not give them any records or family history relating to Morgan. Tr. 19. Salmon asked Drs. McMahon and Barnard to examine Morgan for any information that they thought would be helpful. <u>Id</u>. Salmon did not point them in any particular direction, nor did he suggest any particular mental condition they should investigate, except in general to suggest that they examine for any mental dysfunctions that they might determine

President's Commission on Mental Health published a special report on the mental health problems of Vietnam veterans. Tr. 78-79.

^{5/} Dr. Carbonell testified that the term "PTSD" was formally adopted in 1980, after a number of years of discussion. Tr. 80. The syndrome itself, however, had always existed, but had been given different labels over the course of time. Tr. 81.

from an examination. Tr. 20. Morgan was evaluated on June 7, 1978. Tr. 182. Dr. McMahon's written evaluation is dated June 12, the day Morgan's trial started. Id.

Dr. Carbonell testified that failure to provide Drs. McMahon and Barnard with either Morgan's military records or his family history significantly interfered with their ability to make a proper diagnosis of delayed stress disorder or any other mental conditions. Tr. 100. Dr. Carbonell would expect family information and military records to be available to her in evaluating a patient in a case such as Morgan's. <u>Id</u>. She would have required more than a week or two to evaluate such a patient adequately and would have so informed counsel. Tr. 101. Dr. Carbonell considers it the doctor's responsibility to ask for the patient's records and the lawyer's responsibility to provide materials of which the doctor is unaware. Tr. 102.

Salmon was aware that a 1973 psychological evaluation of Morgan done by Dr. Joanna Byers, a clinical psychologist, was present in his prison records. Tr. 31. He was also aware that Dr. Byers recommended a thorough neurological workup, with an EEG to verify indications of an organic disturbance. <u>Id</u>. Salmon never asked that an EEG be done on Morgan, nor did he ask that any tests be done specifically to determine if Morgan had suffered brain damage. <u>Id</u>. He does not recall reading Morgan's prison file prior to consulting the two doctors who examined Morgan. Tr. 32-33.

D. Limitation Placed On Offering Mitigating Evidence At Trial

It was Salmon's understanding that he was limited by the trial court's rulings to introducing mitigating evidence on only the

- 10 -

statutory mitigating circumstances during the penalty phase of the Tr. 21. Just prior to the start of the penalty phase, Salmon trial. had moved the court to be allowed to introduce evidence in mitigation that was not under the statutory headings enumerating mitigating circumstances in the Florida statute. Id. See also Trial Tr. 555. The court's ruling did not allow Salmon to introduce all evidence he deemed to be mitigative but did allow him to enter any information that he wished to introduce to rebut, explain, or refute any aggravating circumstances that the State presented. Tr. 22; Trial Tr. 560. Salmon believed that if his evidence did not fall within one of the statutory categories for mitigating evidence, he was limited to using such evidence to explain away any aggravating circumstances introduced by the prosecution. $\frac{6}{}$ Tr. 22. Salmon's closing argument would have been structured differently if he had not felt limited to the statutory mitigating circumstances. Id. at 69. He would also have pursued additional mitigating circumstances if he had not been so limited. Tr. 69-70.

Lockett v. Ohio, 438 U.S. 586 (1978), was decided on July 2, 1978, approximately two weeks after the penalty phase hearing but two weeks before the Court's sentencing of Morgan on July 17, 1978. Tr. 70. Salmon was unaware of the decision and did not call it to the Court's attention. Id. If Salmon had known of the case, he

^{6/} Salmon believed, for example, that he could introduce evidence from the prison records for the purpose of responding to or reducing the effect of the aggravating factor that the defendant was a prisoner at the time he committed the homicide, but that he could not introduce such evidence for purposes of arguing that there were mitigating factors beyond those enumerated in the statute. Tr. 23.

would have moved for a continuance to pursue additional mitigating circumstances and then urged them upon the Court. Id.

In Salmon's best professional judgment, had he presented mitigating evidence from Morgan's family members, the prison staff members, and from experts as to Morgan's psychological condition, Morgan would have secured a majority vote from the jury in favor of life. Tr. 32.

E. Background And Preparation Of Trial Counsel

Salmon was employed by the Public Defender's office in the Eighth Judicial Circuit from 1974 until May or June of 1978. Tr. 14. Prior to Morgan's trial, Salmon had not handled either a homicide or a capital case. Tr. 15, 16, 48. The Public Defender's office did not have a policy at that time as to how it would select attorneys for capital cases, nor did it have a policy of assigning more than one attorney from the office to a capital case. Tr. 15.

Capital cases were uncommon in the Public Defender's office as of the year 1978. Tr. 16. Although he may have discussed Morgan's case in general terms with other public defenders, Salmon did not get any specific advice from them regarding trial of the case. Tr. 50-51.

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