IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED
S.D. J. WHITE

OCT 27 1986

CLERK SUPREME COURT
By: *[Signature]*
Deputy Clerk

FLOYD MORGAN,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. 69,104

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE EIGHTH
JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR
UNION COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

JIM SMITH
ATTORNEY GENERAL

MARK C. MENSER
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS
THE CAPITOL
TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32399-1050
(904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Appellant, after a full and fair evidentiary hearing on his motion for post-conviction relief, failed to establish any "ineffective assistance of counsel" under the standards created by Strickland v. Washington.

To the contrary, counsel conducted a vigorous defense, strategically manipulated character evidence to avoid damaging cross examinations, and anticipated future decisions of the Supreme Court of the United States. Thus, counsel was both able and astute, even if not successful.

ARGUMENT

THE TRIAL COURT DID
NOT ERR IN DETERMINING
THAT FLOYD MORGAN
RECEIVED THE EFFECTIVE
ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL

The Appellant's somewhat rambling brief attacks the Circuit Court's decision (on the issue of competency of counsel) on a myriad of grounds. Inasmuch as the brief drifts back and forth from "penalty phase" errors to "guilt phase" errors, with some contentions comprising no more than a single sentence, the state would submit at the onset that it rejects each and every contention of the defense. If some obscure point is not specifically denied, or contested, elsewhere in this brief it is rejected here.

(A) Legal Standards Relating To Effective Assistance of Counsel.

The starting place for any discussion of counsel is Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984). The petitioner must satisfy a two-pronged test under Strickland; demonstrating:

- (1) Errors by counsel so serious that counsel was not functioning as the "counsel" guaranteed by the Sixth Amendment, and
- (2) Prejudice to the defense so serious as to render the outcome of the trial unreliable. . .

Strickland goes on to discuss just how these assessments

are to be made; to wit:

"Judicial scrutiny of counsel's performance must be highly deferential. It is all too tempting for a defendant to secondguess counsel's assistance after conviction or adverse sentence, and it is all too easy for a court, examining counsel's defense after it has proved unsuccessful, to conclude that a particular act or omission of counsel was unreasonable. Cf Engle v. Isaac, 456 U.S. 107..."
id, at 689

"There are countless ways to provide effective assistance in any given case. Even the best criminal defense attorneys would not defend a particular client in the same way." id, 689

"Thus, a court deciding an actual ineffectiveness claim must judge the reasonableness of counsel's challenged on the facts of the particular case, viewed as of the time of counsel's conduct."
(emphasis added) id, 690

"The reasonableness of counsel's actions may be determined or substantially influenced by the defendant's own statements or actions. Counsel's actions are usually based, quite properly, on informed strategic choices made by the defendant and on information supplied by the defendant." id, 691

"An error by counsel, even if professionally unreasonable, does not warrant setting aside the judgment of a criminal proceeding if the error had no effect on the judgment." id, 691

"It is not enough...to show that the errors had some conceivable effect on the outcome of the proceeding. Virtually every act or omission of counsel would meet that test, [citation] and not every error that conceivably could have influenced the outcome undermines the reliability of the result." id, 693

From these passages we can see that the conclusion that

counsel was ineffective is not one entered into lightly. Indeed, Strickland goes on to warn us that it may become impossible for defendants such as Morgan to obtain effective counsel if the legal system degenerates into one where we "try the case and then the lawyer".

Perhaps this explains the contemporaneous, clarifying language of United States v. Cronin, __U.S.__, 80 L.Ed.2d 657, 666 (1984):

"When a true adversarial criminal trial has been conducted, even if defense counsel made demonstrable errors, the kind of testing envisioned by the Sixth Amendment has occurred."

It is from this foundation that we shall dismantle the accusations of ineffectiveness.

(B) Preparation Of Mental Mitigating Evidence

The predominant feature of the case at bar appears to be the claim that Mr. Salmon failed to adequately prepare "mental mitigating evidence" on behalf of Mr. Morgan. Counsel's "errors" break down as follows:

- (a) An alleged failure to go from psychiatrist to psychiatrist until a desired result was obtained.
- (b) Unwarranted reliance upon the opinions of his experts.
- (c) An alleged failure to provide extensive background material on Morgan to the experts.

Morgan contends that his so-called "uncontradicted" testimonial evidence renders the lower court's findings a nullity. The State respectfully disputes the Appellant's claims.

While the State called no witnesses, Morgan's own witnesses provided evasive and oftentimes contradictory testimony on this issue, as well as some testimony that seemed to flatly contradict established law.

The record shows, for example, that Mr. Salmon obtained the services of two psychiatrists known by him to be valuable to the defense. (Although this was Salmon's first murder case he had experience in possibly 50 felony trials.) Salmon asked Drs. Barnard and McMahon to fully evaluate Mr. Morgan for any possible mental mitigating factor useful to his trial defense. Both doctors independently concurred that Morgan suffered from no significant mental disorder.

Baya Harrison testified that in his personal opinion counsel was obliged to keep soliciting doctors until someone found something wrong. When this "expert" was reminded that this was not "the law", he cavalierly exclaimed he "does not care what the Supreme Court says". (R 641) Thus, his opinion was hardly credible or "expert".² The fact is, once counsel

² Harrison's testimony illustrates why "expert testimony" is not binding, even if "uncontradicted". Strickland v. Francis, 738 F.2d 1542 (11th Cir. 1984); Booker v. State, 441 So.2d 148 (Fla. 1983).

has received expert opinions from doctors of his own choosing to the effect that his client suffers from no mental deficiency, he is not required to keep going "until all hope withers". Lovett v. Florida, 627 F.2d 706, 708 (5th Cir. 1980); Adams v. Balkcom, 688 F.2d 734 (11th Cir. 1982), see also Barfield v. Harris, 540 F.Supp. 451 (1982) (lawyer not required to shop around for psychiatrist).

It is submitted that there is a profound difference between an "expert legal opinion" (an assessment based on the law) and the personal opinion of a legal expert. (without regard to actual law)

(C) Trial Counsel's Reliance On Expert Opinions

Mr. Morgan's attorney, Mr. Salmon, was not a medical doctor, psychiatrist or psychologist. As noted by the court and the state, the reason why experts are appointed in criminal cases is so the court can rely upon their specialized knowledge. If a court may rely upon medical testimony, why not counsel?

As noted in Foster v. Strickland, 707 F.2d 1339 (11th Cir. 1983), even when defense counsel has personal doubts regarding the mental health of his client, if expert medical opinions are rendered to the contrary, counsel is not ineffective for relying upon them.

Morgan's "PTSD" has never been established. Morgan served

in Vietnam, but this is not prima facie proof of mental disease. Morgan was tested by competent experts and revealed no disorders. Stress related mental problems, whether called "PTSD" or "delayed stress reaction" or "combat fatigue" are not unknown to the medical community. If it was present, or present in a significant manner, the doctors would have found it.

What Mr. Harrison and Mr. Morgan actually fault counsel for is his conduct regarding the third facet of this claim.

(D) Failure To Provide Materials

Mr. Harrison and Dr. Carbonell gave contradictory "expert" testimony regarding counsel's obligation to the examining doctors. Harrison stated counsel had to spoon-feed the desired diagnosis and relevant supporting data to the experts. Dr. Carbonell said that doctors, as professionals (just like lawyers) had an equal responsibility to gather data whether the lawyer provides it or not.

No one has challenged the competence of Drs. McMahon and Barnard. No one has stated that Morgan has "PTSD"

Expert counsel's testimony reflects a recent criticism of the mental health community developed as a result of the Rosenhan Study. see Rosenhan, On Being Sane In Insane Places, Science, Vol. 179 (1973). Rosenhan, a professor of psychology and law at Stanford University, conducted an experiment wherein

"pseudopatients" were sent to mental hospitals with feigned "schizophrenia". Aside from claiming to hear "voices" at times, each pseudopatient was to act normally. Every pseudopatient sent out was able to gain admission to a mental hospital. Then, Rosenhan notified each hospital involved that "pseudopatients" would be sent to them "as a test". No pseudopatients were sent out, but the hospitals began rejecting applicants right and left, claiming they had detected the pseudopatients.

Rosenhan's study (which is more detailed than reported here) concluded that in many instances mental health experts deliver only "expected", or even "requested" diagnostic opinions rather than perform an impartial evaluation. This study corroborates the legal community's references to "defense" and "prosecution" doctors.

Mr. Salmon procured two doctors relied upon by his office and, if anything, known to be good for the defense. He did not "spoon feed" the desired diagnosis so as to possibly taint the outcome a la Rosenhan. For this he is called "ineffective". The proper word would be "professional". It is not the function of counsel to alter the truth. His function is to help find it. By obtaining independent expert opinions, Salmon performed his duty professionally and ethically. He should not be faulted for it.

The speculative claim that Morgan "might have" PTSD,

though undetectable by independent and impartial testing (but detectable with the "right" doctor given the "right" information) does not support any claim for relief. Indeed, at this stage, a sudden outbreak of "PTSD" would not only be serendipitous, it would be highly suspicious. There is a strong presumption that defendants seeking to establish some mental deficiency will conform their conduct when before experts who will testify about them. Strickland v. Francis, 738 F.2d 1542 (11th Cir. 1984); United States v. Mota, 598 F.2d 995 (5th Cir.) cert. denied 444 U.S. 1084 (1979); United States v. Makris, 535 F.2d 904 (5th Cir. 1976).

One final note, recently in James v. State, __So.2d__ (Fla. 1986) 11 F.L.W. 268 this Honorable Court noted that even the proven existence of some "organic brain damage" does not establish incompetency or mental deficiency, thus making the claim at bar, where Morgan's "problem" (if any) eluded diagnosis by two doctors, even more speculative and untenable.

(E) The Alleged Failure Of Counsel To Procure Witnesses
For The Sentencing Phase

Defense counsel was alleged to have been ineffective for failing to procure the live testimony of guards Sapp and Harden and the live testimony of Morgan's relatives.

Mr. Salmon, who has strong anti-capital punishment feelings, has offered to "fall on his sword" to save his client's life by denying that these "deficiencies" in his defense were not the result of any strategic or tactical move. The lower court chose not to believe Salmon, and for good cause.

Mr. Salmon is an anti-death activist who testified to working as a consultant in many death penalty cases, including collateral attack. Then, however, Salmon testified he did "not know" about circumventing a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel by proving that tactical decisions were made. Since "tactics" is a nearly universal defense to "ineffectiveness", his testimony is not credible unless, after all his consulting and cooperation with esteemed counsel such as Baya Harrison, he was never, ever, exposed to the legal concepts of "ineffective assistance of counsel", the Sixth Amendment and assorted defenses, such as "tactics".

These belated confessions are not unknown to the Court. In Johnson v. Wainwright, 463 So.2d 207, 211 (Fla. 1985) this Court stated:

"Attached to the habeas petition is the affidavit of one of the lawyers who represented Johnson on appeal. The lawyer states he did not omit the point in question for any tactical reason but simply "did not spot it." We do not find the lawyer's apparent willingness to confess incompetence on behalf of his former client, who faces execution, determinative or persuasive of the question of whether appellant received the effective assistance of counsel on appeal."

Even if we assume that Salmon never thought to use live testimony, a dubious proposition given his extensive use of pre-trial depositions and conduct at trial, that "oversight" would not establish ineffectiveness. Johnson, id.

(1) Failure to locate and call prison guards

Salmon failed to procure the attendance of either Mr. Sapp or Mr. Harden. Although no actual testimony regarding the "rescue" has ever been elicited from either man, even at the 3.850 hearing, it is assumed they would have corroborated Governor Askew's letter.

If the subject of Morgan's character was brought up, however, these guards would have testified to other facts detrimental to Morgan's case, such as his brutal murder which landed him in jail in the first place, or his subsequent disciplinary proceedings in the prison,³ including one for possession of a knife. This would not be "Williams Rule" evidence, but rather

³ These were noted by the actual sentencer. If Harden or Sapp could not testify, the records could come in from other sources, including prison personnel called in rebuttal or even the psychiatrists.

would be fair rebuttal to evidence of "character" placed in issue by Morgan himself. see James v. State, __So.2d__ (Fla. 1986) 11 F.L.W. 268.

The governor's letter, of course, was presented to the jury in lieu of the guards' testimony. Unlike the guards, the letter could not be cross examined. While we can speculate as to the value of "live" testimony from men who had no contact with Morgan from 1977 to 1978 as opposed to the letter, speculation will not support the Appellant's case.

"Poor strategy" will not support a finding of ineffectiveness, given the fact that Strickland noted that even experienced criminal defense lawyers will disagree over strategy. Strategic choices are "virtually unchallengeable". Downs v. State, 453 So.2d 1102 (Fla. 1984).

Counsel cannot be deemed ineffective merely on the grounds he failed to call witnesses. Indeed, there is no per se rule requiring him to call anyone at all! Stanley v. Zant, 697 F.2d 955 (11th Cir. 1983); Songer v. Wainwright, 733 F.2d 788 (11th Cir. 1984).

Reviewing courts have consistently refused to secondguess counsel. Beckham v. Wainwright, 639 F.2d 262 (5th Cir. 1981). Even if counsel did "err" in not procuring these witnesses, errorless counsel is not guaranteed by the Constitution. Winfrey v. Maggio, 664 F.2d 550 (5th Cir. 1981). (This, of

course, presumes that the trial court found Salmon's "this was not tactical" comment credible.)

(2) Failure to locate family

Mr. Salmon allegedly never contacted Morgan's family, however:

- (1) A letter from Morgan's mother was produced, and
- (2) Salmon testified he contacted someone in the family to get clothing for Morgan to wear at trial.

These facts do not mesh with the "no contact" allegation.

The testimony of family members about alleged childhood injuries or mental problems is of speculative value, Stephens v. Kemp, 721 F.2d 1300 (11th Cir. 1983), thus the "failure" to produce said testimony is not an act of legal "incompetence". Porter v. State, 478 So.2d 33 (Fla. 1985); Maxwell v. State, __So.2d__ (Fla. 1986) 11 F.L.W. 219; Stephens v. Kemp, supra. Thus, even if we assume agruendo that Morgan's family was never contacted (and the letter, etc. just "appeared" out of nowhere), we cannot find ineffective representation.

Morgan's "character", once opened for examination, would yield the proverbial can of worms. James v. State, supra. This "nice, non-violent" fellow was the perpetrator of a horrible murder. He "served his country" by getting court martialled for

shooting at an NCO. He received only a "general discharge". This was his second murder, committed solely to punish a debtor who somehow came to owe Morgan \$400 while they served together in prison.

Again, Morgan's "mental problems" were so miniscule that two defense psychiatrists failed to detect them. This fact would dampen the impact of sibling testimony.

As noted before, counsel is not required to present any particular mitigating evidence. Francois v. Wainwright, 763 F.2d 1188 (11th Cir. 1985) (per curiam); Stanley v. Zant, 697 F.2d 955 (11th Cir. 1983). This is especially true when the client directs counsel not to procure or introduce that evidence.

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